Theresa A. Ristenpart, Esq. (NSBN 9665) RISTENPART LAW, LLC 464 South Sierra Street Reno, NV 89501 (775) 200-1699

Attorney for Appellant

Electronically Filed Feb 07 2019 10:33 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA

LISA ANN NASH,

Case No. 76098

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

#### APPELLANT LISA ANN NASH'S OPENING BRIEF

Theresa A. Ristenpart, Esq. (NSBN 9665) RISTENPART LAW, LLC 464 South Sierra Street Reno, NV 89501 (775) 200-1699

Attorney for Appellant

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA

LISA ANN NASH,

Case No. 76098

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The District Court for the Eighth Judicial District entered a judgment of conviction against Lisa Nash for Child Abuse, Neglect or Endangerment on May 7, 2018. (APP 008-009) Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on June 6, 2018. (APP 001-002) The court has jurisdiction over this final order in a criminal case based upon the timely filing of the notice of appeal. *See* NRAP 4(b)(1)(A); NRS 177.015(3).

Lisa Nash is out of custody currently serving a term of probation.

#### **II.** ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals as it is a direct appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict for several category B felonies. *See* NRAP 17(b)(2)(A). As this is an error correction case in which no novel issues are presented, Appellant Nash does not object to having the case assigned to the Court of Appeals. *See* NRAP 17(d).

#### III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the district court erred by admitting vague and unsubstantiated allegations of prior bad acts?
- 2. Whether the district court committed plain error by issuing an incomplete jury instruction regarding the definition of neglect or maltreatment pursuant to NRS 432B.140?
- 3. Whether Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation was violated by the admission of mental health and medical reports through a third party?
- 4. Whether there was sufficient evidence to support the convictions?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 10, 2015, the State filed an Information charging Ms. Lisa Ann Nash (Ms. Nash) with one count of Child Abuse, Neglect or Endangerment (Category B Felony – NRS 200.508(1) – NOC 55226). APP 0010-0011.

On September 10, 2015, the State filed an Amended Information charging Ms. Nash with six counts of Child Abuse, Neglect or Endangerment (Category B Felony – NRS 200.508(1) – NOC 55226); one count of Battery Constituting Domestic Violence (Category C felony- NRS 200.481; 200.485; 33.018 – NOC 54740); and one count of Coercion (Category B Felony- NRS 207.190 – NOC 53159), alleging that on or between April 1, 2014 and July 31, 2014, at and within Clark County, State of Nevada, the Defendant committed these acts, including allegations of Defendant yelling and/or screaming at S.S. and causing and/or directing S.S. to act like an animal; strangulation of S.S.; Defendant shoving the face of S.S. into the ground and/or slamming the face of S.S. into the floor; Defendant yelling and/or

screaming at S.S. and causing and/or directing S.S. to run up and down stairs; Defendant slapping or hitting S.S. about the head and/or face and/or body; Defendant straddling S.S. and preventing her from getting up or moving; Defendant slapping and/or smacking and/or hitting S.S. about the head and/or face and/or body and/or poking S.S. with a knife; Defendant yelling and/or screaming at S.S. and causing and/or directing S.S. to run up and down stairs and/or threatening to push S.S. down the stairs. APP 0012-0015.

Ms. Nash was arrested on July 24, 2014 and her initial arraignment was August 18, 2015, where she pled not guilty. APP 0002-0007.

Jury trial lasted for five (5) days from September 11, 2017 through September 15, 2017. APP 0002-0007. The jury found Ms. Nash guilty of three (3) counts of Child Abuse, Neglect or Endangerment (Category B Felony – NRS 200.508(1) and one (1) count of Battery Constituting Domestic Violence (Misdemeanor- NRS 200.481; 200.485; 33.018 – NOC 54740). APP 00013-00016. The jury acquitted Ms. Nash of the allegations of Coercion and three (3) counts of Child Abuse, Neglect or Endangerment. APP 0008-0009.

Ms. Nash was sentenced on April 23, 2018 and the Judgment of Conviction was filed on May 7, 2018. Ms. Nash was sentenced to nineteen (19) to forty-eight (48) months in the Nevada Department of Corrections, to run concurrently, sentence suspended, placed on Probation not to exceed three years (3) for each of the felony Child Abuse, Neglect or Endangerment charges; and was sentenced to credit for

time served for the misdemeanor Battery Constituting Domestic Violence charge. APP 0008-0009.

On June 6, 2018, Ms. Nash filed a timely Notice of Appeal in the Eighth Judicial District Court. APP 00001-00006.

#### **V. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS**

The Appellant, Ms. Nash, is the biological aunt to the alleged victim,
Shaylyn Shelton. Shaylyn was living with Ms. Nash because she was going
through a process with the State of Maryland and the State of Nevada to be adopted
by Ms. Nash. APP 0327-0328. Shaylyn is the daughter of Ms. Nash's brother,
Darrell Nash, whose four (4) children were taken away by Child Protective
Services (CPS) in 2002 by the State of Maryland when Shaylyn was four (4) years
old. They were taken away primarily due to filthy living conditions. APP 06060608.

In 2005, the State of Maryland CPS contacted Ms. Nash to adopt all four (4) children, which Ms. Nash accepted; however, after receiving the records on Shaylyn, she saw how many issues Shaylyn had and believed it would be too great of an undertaking in conjunction with her three (3) children whom she was raising in her home already. Additionally, Ms. Nash was still doing military service. She had to deny the adoption of all four (4) children. APP 608-609.

The State of Maryland CPS contacted Ms. Nash again around 2010-2011 and informed her that the other three (3) siblings of Shaylyn had been adopted out, and that only Shaylyn remained in foster care. They asked Ms. Nash if she would take Shaylyn and Ms. Nash accepted. APP 0610.

It took almost four (4) years to get Shaylyn to Ms. Nash's home in Las Vegas to live with her, due to the requirements between the States of Nevada and Maryland. APP 061. At the time, Ms. Nash also had her daughter, Megan Nash, aged 15, and her son, Chay Douglas, aged 24, living with her. APP 0606. In 2014, Shaylyn came to Nevada to live with Ms. Nash for seven (7) months, prior to allegations of child abuse/neglect. APP 0301.

Sometime during the month of April 2014, and on July 2, 2014, Megan Nash took four (4) partial videos on her phone of alleged incidents between Shaylyn and Ms. Nash. APP 0359-0360.

From March 2014 to April 2015, Megan Nash dated Lonny Hennessey, aged 16. APP 0470. Around the end of June, first week of July 2014, Ms. Nash caught Lonny and Megan in her room with the door locked. She knocked and they opened the door. They were lying on the floor under a blanket. APP 0534-0536; APP 0645-646. Ms. Nash told them to get up, that it was not acceptable behavior. Lonny challenged Ms. Nash and Ms. Nash kicked Lonny out of her house. Lonny continued to disrespect Ms. Nash on the way out of the house. After he was out of the house, he made a physically aggressive stance toward Ms. Nash and attempted

to enter the home again. Ms. Nash kicked him out permanently. APP 0646-647; APP 0534-0536. Lonny's father came to Ms. Nash's house and admonished her for kicking out his son. APP 0648. Megan continued to date Lonny. Megan and Ms. Nash had issues regarding her continuing to date Lonny. APP 0534-535.

On July 21, 2014, while Ms. Nash was out of the house, Megan had Lonny over. Chay, aged 24 at the time, was present as well. Lonny and Chay got into a physical altercation. APP 0480; APP 0534; APP 051. Lonny and Megan left to go to Lonny's house. (APP 0511-512) Megan called her father, Richard Nash, who lived in California at the time. APP 0364-366. Ms. Nash and Mr. Nash have a contemptuous relationship; and Megan's father had not been to Las Vegas to visit Megan since her fourteenth birthday. APP 0649-651. Megan sent the partial videos to her father and he helped Megan plan how to report Ms. Nash to the police for alleged abuse. APP 0364-366.

Megan, Lonny's parents, Lonny's sister, Lonny's aunt and Richard Nash were all at Lonny's house when Lonny's aunt called 911 to report Ms. Nash for alleged child abuse. APP 0366.

On June 21, 2014, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police (LVMPD) responded to a report involving allegations of child abuse by Megan Nash. APP 0282-0283. Megan showed the officers videos she had taken on her phone from April 2014 and July 3, 2014. APP 0283-0284. Police asked Megan to write a statement. Lonny's aunt, Lonny's sister, Lonny's mom and Richard Nash were present when Megan

wrote her statement. APP 0393. In Megan's trial testimony, she states that she was influenced by her father and all of Lonny's family. APP 0394.

Megan testified that she overexaggerated and embellished because she was mad at her mom. APP 0363-364. Megan states that Police and State counsel never asked her any follow-up questions after she gave them her written statement, including anytime prior to trial. APP 0372-37. At trial, Megan states that the allegations in her written statement were false. APP 0377-378; APP 0362-363; APP 0368. Megan attempted to withdraw her written statement with the District Attorney, but they refused. APP 0532.

In trial, the State moved to admit the refuted statement for relevance as prior inconsistent statements given. Defense counsel opposed on the basis that part of the statement is hearsay. The Judge admitted the statement, stating the State met the burden to show that it is extrinsic evidence and goes toward the credibility of the witness. APP 0440-0449.

After speaking with Megan Nash and watching the videos, LVMPD went to the home of Lisa Nash, who was home with Shaylyn. Police spoke with Ms. Nash and Shaylyn. APP 0284-286. Police called paramedics to perform a body check on Shaylyn. APP 0286-0287. No injuries were discovered. APP 0291.

The reported officer testified that Shaylyn "seemed to be a happy-go-lucky young lady." APP 0288. LVPD contacted Child Protective Services (CPS) to perform their own investigation into the abuse or neglect allegations. APP 0287-

0288. CPS responded to the scene and watched the videos. APP 0324. CPS interviewed Shaylyn first, then Lisa Nash. Lisa Nash was arrested and CPS took Shaylyn into their custody. APP 0325-0326. CPS worker Shanna Davis testified that during her time with Shaylyn, she appeared happy. APP 0497-498.

Shaylyn was reported as having behavioral, cognitive and mental issues by the State of Maryland. Many diagnoses had been thrown around, including bipolar to anxiety to mood disorder. There were reports from the facilities Shaylyn had been at, but no medical records were presented and the true issues were unknown. APP 0612-613. At trial, over defense objection, Nevada CPS testified that their records showed that Shaylyn operated at the level of an eight-year old child. APP 0339 – 0249. Additionally, Nevada CPS testified that Shaylyn had PTSD, ADD, ADHD, Asthma, was emotionally and developmentally disturbed and had a history of sexual abuse. Nevada CPS stated Shaylyn was on psychotropic drugs, but did not know what type. Nevada CPS did not know the doctor or doctors that made any of the alleged determinations. APP 0331-334. No medical reports were proffered.

After the arrest of Lisa Nash on July 24, 2014, Shaylyn was returned to foster care in Maryland on July 25, 2014 and adoption procedures were terminated. APP 0496, 0528.

Shayln herself testified that she understood Lisa Nash was trying to help her lose weight and that she never felt like she was being abused. APP 0310. Shaylyn,

Megan, and Lisa Nash all testified that Lisa, a military veteran, had been using physical training to help Shaylyn lose weight in order to be able to go to horse camp and improve her health. APP 0310, 0353, 0629.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

1. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING MEGAN NASH'S WRITTEN STATEMENT CONTAINING VAGUE AND UNSUBSTANTIATED ALLEGATIONS OF PRIOR BAD ACTS.

An appellate court reviews a district court's decision to admit or exclude priorbad-act evidence under an abuse of discretion standard. *Newman v. State*, 129 Nev. 222, 226 (2013).

Nev. Rev. Stat. § 48.045(2) prohibits the use of evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts to prove the character of a person in order to show that the person acted in conformity therewith. Such evidence may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident. *Id.* "The use of uncharged bad act evidence to convict a defendant [remains] heavily disfavored in our criminal justice system because bad acts are often irrelevant and prejudicial and force the accused to defend against vague and unsubstantiated charges." *Bigpond v. State*, 128 Nev. 108, 115 (2012) (quoting *Tavares v. State*, 117 Nev. 725, 730 (2001)). "A presumption of inadmissibility attaches to all prior bad act evidence." *Id.* (quoting *Rosky v. State*, 121 Nev. 184, 195 (2005)).

"[T]o overcome the presumption of inadmissibility, the prosecutor must request a hearing and establish that: (1) the prior bad act is relevant to the crime charged and for a purpose other than proving the defendant's propensity, (2) the act is proven by clear and convincing evidence, and (3) the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." *Newman v. State*, 129 Nev. 222, 230-31 (2013) quoting *Bigpond*, 128 Nev. at 117.

Here, the district court, over defense objection, admitted Megan Nash's entire prior written witness statement as evidence under the theory that it was evidence of Megan's credibility. APP 0440-0449. "The bottom line extrinsic evidence of a witness' capacity or motive to testify is not collateral in this court's determination and it's not subject to those limitations set out in NRS 50.056, Subsection 3, which talks about that." APP 00446.

The statement includes an allegation from Megan this "abuse" happens two to three times a month. There were no specifics, nor timeframe given in the written statement. Again, over defense objection and without a hearing, the district court allowed in these unspecified prior bad act allegations as the State argued that they had a three-month time period in their criminal information alleging the abuse occurred between April and July, 2014. APP 0041 – 0042. Based upon Megan's statement, a juror would believe that Appellant Nash was engaged in repeated and multiple abusive acts over a long period of time.

The district court abused its discretion by admitting vague prior bad act evidence without first having a hearing to establish if relevant and proven by clear and convincing evidence.

2. THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED PLAIN ERROR BY ISSUING AN INCOMPLETE JURY INSTRUCTION REGARDING THE DEFINITION OF NEGLECT OR MALTREATMENT PURSUANT TO NRS 432B.140.

A district court has broad discretion in settling jury instructions, and this court reviews a district court's decision for an abuse of discretion. *Crawford v. State*, 121 Nev. 746, 748 (2005). This court reviews an instructional error absent an objection for plain error. *Rossana v. State*, 113 Nev. 375, 382 (1997); *Green v. State*, 119 Nev. 542, 545 (2003). In doing so, this court examines whether an error occurred, "whether the error was plain," and "whether the error affected the defendant's substantial rights." *Green*, 119 Nev. At 545. "[T]he burden is on the defendant to show actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." *Id*.

Here, the district court instructed the jury in instruction #6 that:

"Negligent treatment or maltreatment" of a child occurs if a child has been abandoned, is without proper care, control, and supervision for the well-being of the child because of the faults or habits of the person responsible for the welfare of the child or the neglect or refusal of the person to provide them when able to do so. APP 0931.

In 2014 the time of the alleged treatment, NRS 432B.140 defined "neglect or maltreatment" as:

Negligent treatment or maltreatment of a child occurs if a child has been abandoned, is without proper care, control and supervision **or lacks the subsistence**, **education**, **shelter**, **medical care or other care necessary** for the well-being of the child because of the faults or habits of the person responsible for the welfare of the child or the neglect or refusal of the person to provide them when able to do so.<sup>1</sup> (emphasis added)

The State, in settling jury instructions, made it very clear that it "elected to proceed under negligent treatment or mall-treatment [sic] theory." APP 0746. The State purposely omitted the phrase "or lacks the subsistence, education, shelter, medical care or other care necessary" in its proposed jury instruction. APP 0744.

The phrase "lacks the subsistence, education, shelter, medical care or other care necessary" helps define for a jury what behavior, or lack thereof, rises to the level of neglect and maltreatment. To omit this phrase effectively lessened the State's burden of proof. Shaylyn testified that she always had enough to eat and that her aunt took good care of her. Without a complete instruction and the perspective of comparison as to behavior that rises to the level of neglect/maltreatment, the jury is left guessing as to what would constitute neglect and maltreatment pursuant to NRS 432B.140.

This error substantially affected Appellant's rights as negligent treatment/maltreatment was the only theory the State argued it was proceeding under.

11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The 2015 amendment, effective October 1, 2015, added "has been subjected to harmful behavior that is terrorizing, degrading, painful or emotionally traumatic"; and substituted "or supervision" for "and supervision."

The State argued it believed "the evidence, the video, was is that the Defendant was not providing Shaylyn Shelton the proper care and control, based upon NRS 432(b)." APP 0748. As such, the District Court committed plain error by issuing an incomplete jury instruction regarding the definition of neglect and maltreatment which significantly affected Appellant's substantial rights.

# 3. THE APPELLANT'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION WAS VIOLATED BY THE IMPROPER ADMISSION OF MENTAL HEALTH AND MEDICAL REPORTS THROUGH A THIRD PARTY.

In *Ramirez v. State*, the Nevada Supreme Court held:

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "in all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him." U.S. Const. amend. VI. The Sixth Amendment's guarantee of the right of an accused to confront accusatory witnesses is a fundamental right that is made obligatory on the states by the Fourteenth Amendment. *Pointer v. Texas*, 380 U.S. 400, 403, 13 L. Ed. 2d 923, 85 S. Ct. 1065 (1965). Further, the United States Supreme Court has held that "confrontation means more than being allowed to confront the witness physically. 'Our cases construing the [confrontation] clause hold that a primary interest secured by it is the right of cross-examination." *Id.* 

Ramirez v. State, 114 Nev. 550, 557 (1998).

In this case, over defense objection, Nevada CPS testified from their records that Shaylyn operated at the level of an eight-year old child. APP 0339 – 0249.

Additionally, Nevada CPS testified that Shaylyn had PTSD, ADD, ADHD, Asthma, was emotionally and developmentally disturbed and had a history of sexual abuse. Nevada CPS stated Shaylyn was on psychotropic drugs, but did not know what type. Nevada CPS did not know the doctor or doctors that made any of the alleged determinations. APP 0331-334. No medical reports were proffered. On cross examination, CPS worker Balinda Jackson-Gordon (CPS Jackson) admitted that she did not know when the reports were authored or by whom and that she had not read everything in the record. APP 00336.

It is clear that the jury placed a lot of weight on this testimony about Shaylyn's mental competency as demonstrated by the jury question "Was Shaylyn aware of what had happened?" in reference to the alleged incidents. APP 0335. The District Court allowed CPS Jackson, who had no specialized medical or diagnostic training, to testify:

"She experienced what she experienced in the household. As far as why she was removed, I'm not sure of that. I don't know if she was mentally able to cognitively understand what had taken place. She has been diagnosed with having the mental capacity of someone that is 8, so I don't know if she understands the full degree of what is going on." APP 0335.

This testimony regarding prior medical diagnosis and evaluations was inadmissible hearsay that was being used to prove the truth of the matter asserted: that Shaylyn had lower mental cognitive capabilities.

The State capitalizes on this and labels Shaylyn as "special needs" with a lesser IQ. APP 0824. The State repeatedly argues in closing argument that

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