#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LISA ANN NASH,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Mar 11 2019 01:08 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 76098

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

THERESA A. RISTENPART, ESQ. Ristenpart Law, LLC Nevada Bar #009665 464 South Sierra Street Reno, Nevada 89501 (775) 200-1699

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

///

///

# II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ISSUING JURY INSTRUCTIONS

Next, Appellant complains the district court abused its discretion in issuing the jury instruction regarding the theory of negligent treatment or maltreatment. AOB at 10–12. This argument is without merit. Appellant did not object to the relevant instruction, and Appellant cannot establish that it was an incorrect statement of the law. In fact, it quotes the statute directly, and the portion Appellant alleges was missing was, in fact, present.

As an initial matter, Appellant did not object to these jury instruction issues below. Thus, the issues are waived. <u>Dermody v. City of Reno</u>, 113 Nev. 207, 210–11, 931 P.2d 1354, 1357 (1997); <u>Guy v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 770, 780, 839 P.2d 578, 58 (1992), cert. denied, 507 U.S. 1009, 113 S. Ct. 1656 (1993); <u>Davis v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 600, 606, 817 P.2d 1169, 1173 (1991). If reviewable all, the issue may only be examined for plain error. <u>Maestas v. State</u>, 128 Nev. 124, 146, 275 P.3d 74, 89 (2012). Plain error review asks:

"To amount to plain error, the 'error must be so unmistakable that it is apparent from a casual inspection of the record." Vega v. State, 126 Nev. \_\_\_, \_\_, 236 P.3d 632, 637 (2010) (quoting Nelson, 123 Nev. at 543, 170 P.3d at 524). In addition, "the defendant [must] demonstrate [] that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (quoting Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003))). Thus, reversal for plain error is only warranted if the error is readily apparent and the appellant demonstrates that the error was prejudicial to his substantial rights.

Martinorellan v. State, 131 Nev. \_\_\_, 343 P.3d 590, 594 (2015).

In this case, there was no unmistakable error regarding jury instructions. District courts have "broad discretion" to settle jury instructions. Cortinas v. State, 124 Nev. 1013, 1019, 195 P.3d 315, 319 (2008). District courts' decisions settling jury instructions are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Crawford v. State, 121 Nev. 746, 748, 121 P.3d 582, 585 (2003). An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason. Jackson v. State, 117 Nev. 116, 120, 17 P.3d 998, 1000.

Here, there is no readily apparent error in the instruction. At the relevant time, NRS 432B.140 stated:

Negligent treatment or maltreatment of a child occurs if a child¹ has been abandoned, is without proper care, control and supervision or lacks the subsistence, education, shelter, medical care or other care necessary for the well-being of the child because of the faults or habits of the person responsible for the welfare of the child or the neglect or refusal of the person to provide them when able to do so.

Jury Instruction 6, the instruction at issue, stated:

"Negligent treatment or maltreatment" of a child occurs if a child has been abandoned, is without proper care, control and supervision, or lacks the subsistence, education, shelter, medical care or other care necessary for the well-being of the child because of the faults of habits of the person responsible for the welfare of the child or the neglect or refusal of the person to provide them when able to do so.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The phrase "has been subjected to harmful behavior that is terrorizing, degrading, painful or emotionally traumatic" was added in 2015. 2015 Nevada Laws Ch. 399 (A.B. 49).

V AA 931. As is clear from this direct comparison, barring the quotation marks, the language in the instruction actually given to the jury reflects the statutory language *exactly*. Appellant's quoted language of Jury Instruction 6 is simply inaccurate. AOB at 10. Thus, Appellant's argument concerning the phrase "lacks the subsistence, education, shelter, medical care or other care necessary" is utterly irrelevant. This phrase was included in the jury instruction. Thus, Appellant has alleged no error, let alone a plain one.

# III. THERE WAS NO VIOLATION OF THE CONFRONTATION CLAUSE

Next, Appellant complains the admission of mental health and medical reports through a third party constituted a violation of the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause. AOB at 12–14. This argument is without merit. Appellant affirmatively waived the issue, not only through lack of objection but also through introducing the underlying information herself in her trial testimony. Further, the victim's health records are not testimonial and thus do not violate the Confrontation Clause.

Appellant did not object to these records on Confrontation Clause grounds. Thus, again, the issue is waived—or, if reviewable, only for plain error. Maestas, 128 Nev. at 146, 275 P.3d at 89; Dermody, 113 Nev. at 210–11, 931 P.2d at 1357. Further, confrontation issues may be waived by the failure to object, for example to the use of affidavits, declaration, or preliminary hearing transcripts. Sparkman v. State, 95 Nev. 76, 81, 590 P.2d 151, 155 (1979); Drummons v. State, 86 Nev. 4, 8

N.2, 462 P.2d 1012, 1014 n.2 (1970). "The test for the validity of a waiver of a fundamental constitutional right is whether the defendant made an 'intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or privilege." Raquepaw v. State, 108 Nev. 1020, 1022, 843 P.2d 366 (1992); see also Ford v. State, 122 Nev. 796, 138 P.3d 500 (2006) (defendant waived his right to confrontation when he stipulated through counsel to the substitution of one doctor for another).

Appellant did not object to the records underlying the testimony about Shaylyn's diagnoses on Confrontation Clause grounds. Appellant did make an objection to the CPS report itself on hearsay grounds, but only as to what the allegations against Appellant were. II AA 322. Appellant also objected to evidence of Shayla's autism, including CPS records, on relevancy grounds. II AA 326, 338–40. The district court overruled these objections. II AA 322, 326, 339. However, Appellant raised no Confrontation Clause objection to the underlying health records. Thus, the State was deprived of an opportunity to cure any potential error, or to elicit testimony through non-hearsay means. This should preclude appellate review. See Sparkman, 95 Nev. at 81, 590 P.2d at 155.

Assuming arguendo this Court choses to examine the issue, it should be noted that the State never actually introduced the CPS report that Appellant now seems to complain about, let alone the underlying health records supporting the information about Shaylyn's diagnoses contained that report. Rather, during its direct

examination of Balinda Jackson-Gordon, the CPS employee and third-party witness whose testimony Appellant challenges on Confrontation Clause grounds for the first time on appeal, the following exchange took place:

- A. I was given a report, and I responded to the residence on allegations.
- Q. What were those allegations of?
- A. The allegations were that . . . physical abuse taking place within a household between an aunt and her niece.

#### II AA 322. Jackson-Gordon mentioned the report in two other places:

Q. . . . During your contact with Shaylyn, did you get a feel for her mental progress?

A. Based on the report I read *and based on talking with her*, she was very mild. Although she is very big -- at that time she was 15 -- very big and very tall. She looked like she was a lot older then what she was, but while I was engaging with her she presented herself as if she was younger in terms of her mental cognition.

#### II AA 328 (emphasis added). And:

- Q. Do you know whether or not she's on psychotropic meds?
- A. According to the report she was.

II AA 331. Thus, the information provided from the underlying health reports was very minimal. Further, Jackson-Gordon's comments on her "mental cognition" were based not just on the report but on her own observations. <u>Id</u>. Just as Jackson-Gordon did, the jury was able to make its own judgments on Shaylyn's demeanor and cognition because Shaylyn, herself, testified. II AA 300–19.

It is difficult to see how such minimal references to health reports could have harmed Appellant's case—given Jackson-Gordon's personal observations,

Shaylyn's presence in the courtroom, and the fact that Appellant, herself, went into much further detail than Jackson-Gordon in discussing Shaylyn's condition and diagnoses. During her own direct examination, Appellant stated, "I saw all of the issues that Shaylyn had," and further:

- Q. A lot of effort was made yesterday in finding out or discussing I believe with both social workers had testified whatnot. Were you ever given, yourself, a solid diagnosis from somebody with the appropriate letters after their name as to what Shaylyn has or suffers from?
- A. That is a yes and no. Technically, no, but there were many, many diagnoses. It ranged from bipolar to anxiety to emotional, sort of mood disorder. It was kind of all over the place. And so honestly, I couldn't tell what her real true issue was.
- Q. Did you ever know what the true issue was at any time? Did you ever find out?
- A. No. I was in the process of doing that. I was going to take her to UNLV and have her evaluated through their autism program when I got arrested.

#### IV AA 609–12.

The fact that Appellant intentionally relinquished or abandoned any potential Confrontation Clause issue is clear. Raquepaw, 108 Nev. at 1022, 843 P.2d at 366. Again, Appellant testified about Shaylyn's diagnoses—meaning that she, herself, put information about Shaylyn's potential autism and other diagnoses before the jury. IV AA 609–12. Even before that, Appellant asked Jackson-Gordon about the underlying health reports, themselves, in cross-examination. For example:

- Q. . . .When you say all of the things that Shaylyn had had going on with her life, you are reading that from a report right?
- A. Yes.
- Q. You did not make those determinations?

A. No.

Q. Can you tell me the name of the doctor that made those determinations?

A. I don't have that information.

Q. Is that a yes or a no?

A. No.

Q. Did you read a report from a doctor saying they made those determinations?

A. No.

II AA 332–33. In other words, Appellant was clearly aware that the underlying health records constituted potential grounds for a hearsay or Confrontation Clause objection. But rather than make that objection, Appellant chose to confront the issues in cross-examination and then through her own testimony during her direct examination.

Even if Appellant had not waived the issue, any objection would have been futile because a victim's medical and mental health records are not "testimonial" and thus their admission does not violate the Confrontation Clause. A defendant's Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses against him is not violated by the admission of statements that are not testimonial in nature. <u>Harkins v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 974, 976, 143 P.3d 706, 709 (2006). This Court has enumerated several factors

to consider in determining whether a statement is testimonial: (1) to whom the statement was made, a government agent or an acquaintance; (2) whether the statement was spontaneous, or made in response to a question (e.g., whether the statement was the product of a police interrogation); (3) whether the inquiry eliciting the statement was for the purpose of gathering evidence for possible use at a later trial, or whether it was to provide assistance in an emergency; and (4) whether the statement was made while an emergency was ongoing, or

whether it was a recount of past events made in a more formal setting sometime after the exigency had ended. No one factor is necessarily dispositive, and no one factor carries more weight than another. These factors will assist courts in ascertaining the relevant facts surrounding the circumstances of a hearsay statement in order to determine its testimonial nature.

#### Id. at 987, 143 P.3d at 714.

Here, the only statements Appellant raises for the first time as Confrontation Clause violations cannot be characterized as "testimonial," particularly when examined under the plain error framework. Jackson-Gordon testified that she responded to Appellant's house based upon a report of physical abuse. II AA 320–37. She testified that, "according to the report," Shayla had multiple mental health diagnosis and the mental capacity of an eight-year-old child. II AA 322, 328, 231.

Under <u>Hawkins</u>, the health records underlying the "report" Jackson-Gordon testified about are not testimonial and thus are not a basis for a Confrontation Clause violation. 122 Nev. at 987, 143 P.3d at 714. The statements that make up medical and mental health records are made to a health provider, not to a government agent; and the doctors that generate such reports are not government agents. Such reports are regularly generated by health providers, not generated at the behest of a government agency. The purpose of a child's health records, as here, is to provide health care and education for the child, not to gather information for a later trial. Thus, the <u>Hawkins</u> factors weigh heavily against considering a child's medical and

mental health records as "testimonial" evidence that implicates the Confrontation Clause.

# IV. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT APPELLANT OF THREE COUNTS OF CHILD ABUSE, NEGLECT OR ENDANGERMENT AND OF BATTERY CONSTITUTING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

Appellant complains there was insufficient evidence to convict her of the three counts of Child Abuse, Neglect or Endangerment and of misdemeanor Battery Constituting Domestic Violence. AOB at 14–15. This argument is without merit. There was multiple sources of testimonial evidence of each instance of abuse and video evidence of two instances. Regardless whether any of it was admitted erroneously, when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, this evidence would have supported a rational jury in finding the essential elements of Appellant's crimes beyond a reasonable doubt.

When reviewing a sufficiency of the evidence claim, the relevant inquiry is not whether the court is convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Wilkins v. State, 96 Nev. 367, 374, 609 P.2d 309, 313 (1980). Rather, the limited inquiry is "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Milton v. State, 111 Nev. 1487, 1491, 908 P.2d 684, 686–87 (1995) (quotation and citation omitted). Thus, the evidence is only insufficient when "the prosecution has not produced a minimum threshold of

evidence upon which a conviction may be based, even if such evidence were believed by the jury." Evans v. State, 112 Nev. 1172, 1193, 926 P.2d 265, 279 (1996) (emphasis removed).

Further, in assessing a sufficiency of the evidence challenge, "'a reviewing court must consider all of the evidence admitted by the trial court,' *regardless whether that evidence was admitted erroneously*." McDaniel v. Brown, 558 U.S. \_\_, \_\_, 130 S.Ct. 665, 672 (2010) (emphasis added) (quoting Lockhart v. Nelson, 488 U.S. 33, 39, 41, 109 S.Ct. 285, 291 (1988). This is because an appellate court "cannot know what evidence might have been offered if the evidence improperly admitted had been originally excluded by the trial judge." <u>United States v. Sarmiento-Perez</u>, 667 F.2d 1239, 1240 (5th Cir. 1982). This Court has affirmatively adopted this analysis. <u>Stephans v. State</u>, 127 Nev. 712, 721, 262 P.3d 727, 734 (2011).

Here, any rational jury would have found all elements of three instances of Child Abuse, Neglect or Endangerment and one instance of Battery Constituting Domestic Violence beyond a reasonable doubt.<sup>2</sup> First of all, Megan's videos were

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In fact, the evidence was overwhelming. Thus, any alleged error was harmless. Pursuant to NRS 178.598, "any error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." <u>See also Knipes v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008) (noting that nonconstitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness based on whether it had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict). On the other hand, constitutional error is evaluated by the test laid forth in <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 828 (1967). The test under <u>Chapman</u> for constitutional trial error is "whether it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the

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